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FE DE%EACLE EL%% TION
COMMISSION
011MAR 18 AM1I: 45
BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSIOI?EL A
In the Matter of )
) MUR 6322
Tommy Sowers; Tommy Sowers for )
Congress and John P. Heisserer, in his )
offiaial capacity as treasurer; Scuare, Inc. )
CERTIFICATION

I, Shelley E. Garr, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive
session, do hereby certify that on March 15, 2011, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to
take the following actions in MUR 6322:

1. Dismiss the allegations that Tommy Sowers for Congress and John P. Heisserer, in
his official eapacity as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and
11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f) in connection with the acceptance of corporately-facilitated

contributions.

2. Dismiss the allegations that Square, Inc. violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and
11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f) by facilitating the making of coatributions.

3. Dismiss the allegations that Tommy Sowers for Congress and John P. Heisserer, in
his official capacity as tresurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) in connection with
the acceptance of the Square card repder devices.

4. Dismiss the allegations tkat Sqjmare, Inc. violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) in connection
with the provision of Square card reader devices to Tommy Sowers for Congress.

5. Find no reason to beHeve that Tommy Sowers for Congress and John P. Heisserer,
in his official capacity as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 439a(b).

6. Find 2o reasan to believe that Tommy Sowuns violated tha Act.

7. Approve the Factea] aad Legal Analysas as recemmendud in the First General
Counsei’s Repart dated December 20, 2010 subject to edits previously circulated.
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Federal Election Commission Page 2
Certification for MUR 6322
March 15, 2011

8. Approve the appropriate letters.

9. Close the file.

Commissioners Bauerly, Hunter, McGahn II, Petersen, Walther, and Weintraub voted

affirmatively for the decision.
Attest:
Z\Aidl,i 17, Ro) é AA/\./
Date” helley E. G

Deputy Secretary of the Commission
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

MAR 2 1 201
Neil Reiff, Esq.
Sandler, Reiff & Young, P.C.
300 M Street, SE, Suite 1102

Washington, DC 20023
RE: MUR 6322
Tommy Sowers for Congress and
John P. Heisserer, in his official
capacity as treasurer
Tommy Sowers
Dear Mr. Reiff:

On July 12, 2010, the Federal Election Commission notified your clients of a complaint
alleging viclations of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. On March 15,
2011, the Commission, on the basis of information in the complaint and information provided by
your clients, exercised its prosecutoriel discretion and dismissed the camplaint. See Heckler v.
Chaney, 470 U.5. 821 (1985). Accomtingly, the Cammission closed its file in thia matter.

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public recard within 30 days. See
Statement of Policy Regarding Disclosure.of Closed Enforcement and Related Files,
68 Fed. Reg. 70,426 (Dec. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First General
Counsel’s Reports on the Public Record, 74 Fed. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2009). The Factual and
Legal Analysis, which explains the Commission’s determination, is enclosed for your
information.

. If you have any questions, please eantact Joshua B. Smith, the attarney assigned to this
matter, at (262) 694-1650.

Sincerely,

Acting Assistant General Counsel

Enclosure

Factual and Legal Analysis
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL ANDLEGAL ANALYSIS

Respondents: Tommy Sowers for Congress and MUR: 6322
John P. Heisserer, in his offieial capacity as Treasurer
Tommy Sowers

L INTRODUCTION

This matter was generated by a complaint filed with the Federal Election
Commission (“Commission”) by Floyd D. Ferrell, alleging possible violatiene of the
Fedaral Eleetien Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (“the Aet”) and the Commiission’s

regulations, hy Tommy Sowers and Tommy Sowers far Congress and John P. Heisserer,

‘in his official capacity as treasurer. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1).

IL FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

A. Background

Tommy Sowers was a Democratic candidate for Congress from Missouri’s 8th

‘District.! On June 8, 2010, the Sowers campaign committee hosted a fundraiser in

Washington, D.C. Several notable Democratic politicians attended the event, along with
Jack Dorsey, the CEO of Square. Square is a software comnpany founded in February

2009 by Jack Dorsey. See httpa://squanvup.vom/about. The company manufacturos

.small, cube-shaped csedit card readers that plug into the headphoue parts in cell phones.

Id. The devices allow merchants to accept payment for goods or services instantly over a
cell phone network. See https:/squareup.con/-about.?

The Committee’s announcement publicizing the June 8 fundraiser contains the

date, time, and location of the fundraiser, and lists Jack Dorsey as attending the event and

! Mr. Sowers lost the general election,

For a visual demonstration of the Square device, see http:/goo.gl/TgTp.

Page 1 of 8
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MUR 6322
Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

as the founder of Twitter. See Complaint at Ex. 2, 3; see also
http://www.sowersforcongress.com/page/s/-square. Further, in the bottom right-hand
corner of the announcement, there is a picture of the Square payment processing device
with Square’s name, along with the statement: “We're also launching Square in DC! The

new application by the founder of Twitter that allows credit card transactions from your

‘mobile phone.” See Compilaint at Ex. 2. Additlonally, the invitation states that attendees

should “RSVP now & pay at the doar w/ SQUARE.” Jd. Near the bottan, the hwvitatien
gives attendees the ability to chaose a cell phone operating system (Android or iPhone) if
the attendee would like a Square card reading device. Id.

The complaint also includes a news article that features promotional material,
allegedly distributed by the Committee, which contains a photo of the candidate, the

campaign logo, and the statement “The Tommy Sowers campaign is using Square and

launching it in DC. What better way to unveil the future of grassroots fundraising than

through a fundraiser for a true grassroots candidate. Square is the new application by the
founder of Twitter that allows credit card transactions from your mobile phone. Tuesday,

June 8 6:30 - 7:30 FM @ Local 16 1602 UF 8t. NW. RSVP & for more detils:

~www.sowersforcongress.cam/square2.” See Complaint ac 2; Complaint Ex. 3.

Additionally, Jack Dorsey wrote about the fundraiser on his Twitter account. See
http://goo.gl/AlkHu (posted June 8, 2010, 4:53 PM) (last visited December 7, 2010)

(At #sqdc with @crazybob for @Sowers and @Square. Come by and say hi! Local

16.”).

Square provided its mobile credit services to the Committee during the 2010

election cycle. See Response at2. To use the Square service, the merchant must first

Page 2 of 8
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MUR 6322
Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

download Square’s free application to a cell phone or iPad. See https:/squareup.com/get-

‘started. The merchant then attaches Square’s credit card reader to a cell phone, and the

buyer swipes a credit card through the reader. After swiping the card, the buyer signs the
transaction receipt on the phone using his or her finger. See https://squareup.com/about.

Square distributes the readers for free and does not charge a monthly fee or require a

‘merchant account. See https:/squareup.com/features. Instead, the merchant pays Square

a parcentage of ench transaxtian amount. /d. Maorchants are not retpured to have the card
reader to use Square’s payment processing service because the merchent can manaelly

run the credit card information through Square’s cell phone application, but Square

.charges more for non-swiped transactions. /d. Although Square distributes the device for

free, at the time of the fundraiser, Square admittedly confronted a “big hardware

shortage” and struggled to meet the demand for its readers. See Letter from Jack Dorsey,

The Home Stretch, SQUARE, INC. (June 18, 2010), http://goo.gl/eNkZM. Jd.

The Committee maintains that it paid for all of the fundraiser’s expenses. See
Response at 2. Respondents also assert that Square’s only involverrrent was as a

commercial vendor to the Committee, and that Square did not “approve or cemment on”

any Committee promotianal metariel. Jd. Further, even though Jack Darsey was lisied as

attending the event, the response inaists that he was involvad in the event as a pessonal
supporter, and he appeared in his personal capacity. Jd.

The response also asserts that the Committee referenced Square’s name with

respect to Square’s status as a commercial vendor to the Committee and to draw attention

to an innovative technology that the Committee uses for fundraising operations, and not

to encourage contributions. See Response at 2-3. According to the Committee, using

Page 3 of 8
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MUR 6322
Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

Square’s name in an advertisement is akin to the Committee revealing that it accepts

“contributions via MasterCard, Visa, or ActBlue, because Square is merely a “conduit” for

contributions. /d. Finally, the response argues that even if the use of Square was a
violation of the Act, it was a de minimis violation because the event raised only $5,574 in

contributions. See Response at 4. Respondents also state the Committee paid Square the

'full market value for use of its services. Id. at 3. The Committee reported contributions

totaling $2,950 an June 8, 2010, tha duy of the fundraiaer, and $10,000 an June 9, 2010,

the day after the fundraiser. It is possible that the Committee reaeived contiitriinns from

sources other than the June § fundraiser on those days.

B. Analysis
1. Corporate Activity

The complaint alleges that: (1) the references to Square and the Square payment

processing device in the Committee’s fundraiser announcement; (2) a speech made by

Dorsey at the fundraiser in which Dorsey allegedly endorsed Tommy Sowers and the
Committee’s use of Square; (3) and the provision of Square card readers to the

Committee to distribute at the fundraiser, constitute impermissible uses of corporate

resomrces to engage in fundraising activities. The Complaint also alleges that Square

gave, and the Committee accepted, prohibite< eontrihotious when Square furviched the
Committee with the card reader devices.

Under the Act and Commission regulations, corporations are prohibited from

.making a contribution to a candidate’s committee in connection with a Federal election,

and candidates are prohibited from accepting or receiving corporate contributions. See

Page 4 of 8
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MUR 6322
Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

2 U.S.C. § 441b(a); 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b)(1). A “contribution” includes “any gift,

subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of money or anything of value made by any

“person for the purpose of influencing any election for Federal office.” 2 U.S.C.

§ 431(8)(A)(i) and 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(a); see also 2 U.S.C. § 441b(b)(2) and 11 C.F.R.
§ 114.2(b)(1). “Anything of value” includes all in-kind contributions, including the

pravision of goods or services without charge or at a charge that is hess than the usual and

‘normal charge. See 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1). Because the Act and Commission

regulations prohihit corporations from contributing anything of value ta committees, ar
using their resources ta facilitate contributions to committees, a denation by a corporation

of its trademark to a committee (for example, to indicate the corporation’s support for a

'candidate) would constitute an impermissible corporate contribution. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a)

and 11 C.F.R. 114.2(f). The Comumission has previously considered corporate names and

trademarks to be things of value. See MUR 6110 (Obama Victory Fund) Senate Realty

Corporation Factual and Legal Analysis; MUR 5578 (Wetterling for Congress) First

General Counsel’s Report.
Here, the available informatlon indicates that the fundraiser unnouncement

featured a picture and deseription of the Square card reader, and it notified viewers that

the fundraiser was serving as the “launch” of Siquare in Washington, D.C. The

announcement also promised contributors their own Square device, even though the
Square reader was difficult to obtain at the time of the fundraiser. Further, Square’s role

at the event appears to have been more than a mere portal for 6ontributions, like

‘MasterCard or Visa, given that the devices were distributed to the fundraiser attendees to

keep and use apart from contributing to the Committee, the event appears to have been a

Page 5 of 8
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MUR 6322
Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

“launch” event for Square, and Dorsey’s Twitter post can be read to suggest he was

appearing both as an individual and as a corporate representative. However, the

fundraiser apparently raised only $5,574, and Square offers the devices free to the public,
thus making it difficult to assess their value. Under these circumstances, further use of

the Commission’s resources for an investigation is not warranted. Accordingly, the

Commission has determined to exercise its prosecutorial discretion and dismiss the

allegations thai Tommy Sowemns for Cungress and John P. Haisserer, in lis offialel
capacity as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f) in conneetion

with the acceptance of corporately-facilitated contributions, and violated 2 U.S.C. §

‘441b(a) in connection with the acceptance of the Square card reader devices. See

Heckler v. Chaney 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985).
2. Personal Use

Finally, the complaint alleges that if the Committee paid for the costs of the

.fundraiser, then it is “certain that at least part of the funds were put to personal use.” See

Complaint at 4. According to the complaint, the fundraiser benefited Square, which
ultimately benefits Jack Dorsey aad tile other owners and investors of Square, and

therafore is on impermissible use af Conmnittee contributions becanse tae costs of this

-“lavnch party” would exist irrespective of the candidate’s campaiga. Id. In response, the

Committee states that it paid for all expenses related to the fundraiser, and the costs of the
fundraiser do not constitute personal use because neither Tommy Sowers nor any

member of his family own stock in or are in any way financially connected to Square.

‘See Response at 2.

Page 6 of 8
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MUR 6322
Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

Campaign contributions accepted by a candidate may not be converted to personal

-use by any person. 2 U.S.C. § 439a(b)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 113.2(e); see also 2 U.S.C.

§ 439a(a). “Personal use” is defined as “any use of funds in a campaign account of a
present or former candidate to fulfill a commitment, obligation or expense of any person

that would exist irrespective of the candidate’s campaign or duties as a Federal

"officeholder.” See 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g); see also 2 U.S.C. § 439a(b)(2); 2 U.S.C.

§ 431(11) (defining “person” under the Act); Explanation and Justification, Expenditures;

Reports by Political Committees; Personal Use of Campaign Funds, 60 Fed. Reg. 7862

(February 9, 1995) (“If campaign funds are used for a financial obligation that is caused

'by campaign activity or the activities of an officeholder, that use is not personal usé.”)

Commission regulations list a number of purposes that would constitute personal use per
se. 11 CF.R. § 113.1(g)(1)(i). Where a specific use is not listed as personal use, the

Commission makes a determination, on a case-by-case basis, whether an expense would

“fall within the definition for personal use. 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(1)(ii). The Commission

has long recognized that if a candidate “can reasonably show that the expenses at issue
resulted from campaign or officeholder uctivities, the Commission will not consider the

use to be personel use.” See 60 Fed. Reg. at 7867. In mevipus matters, fiinds were

coasiderod converted by individuals te personal use when they were used to pay for

personal expenses, such as Broadway show and football tickets, haircuts, credit card bills,

and personal trainer payments. See, e.g., MUR 5962 (Istook for Congress) Conciliation

Agreement; MUR 5895 (Meeks for Congress) Conciliation Agreement.

Here, there is no information indicating that campaign funds were put to personal

use. The complaint argues that because the fundraiser was also styled as a launch for

Page 7 of 8
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Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

Square, the Committee used campaign contributions to pay for launch expenses that

would have existed irrespective of the campaign. However, the Commission gives

candidates wide discretion over the use of campaign funds. See 60 Fed. Reg. at 7867.

The Committee hosted a fundraiser for Tommy Sowers’ campaign, and has reasonably

shown that the expenses for this fundraiser would not have existed irrespective of the

campaign. Therefore, beoause no canpaign contributions appear to have been converted

to personat use, the Commissian har detennined ta find no reasnn tr believe that Tommy
Sawers fon Congress and John P. Heisserer, in his official capacity as treasurer, violated

2 U.S.C. § 439a(b). The Commission has also determined to find no reason to believe

that Tommy Sowers violated the Act.

Page 8 of 8
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

MAR 2 1 201

Neil Reiff, Esq.

Sandler, Reiff & Young, P.C.
300 M Street, SE, Suite 1102
Washington, DC 20023

RE: MUR 6322
Square, Inc.

Dear Mr. Reiff:

On July 12, 2010, the Federal Election Commission notified your client of a complaint
alleging violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. On Marclh 15,
2011, the Commission, on the basis of information in the complaint and information provided by
your client, exercised its prosecutorial discretion and dismissed the comnplaint. See Heckler v.

Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985). Aceordingly, the Commission closed its file in this matter

Decuments related tc the case will be plaeed on the public rccord within 3thdays.
See Statement of Policy Regarding Disclosure of Closed Enfarcement and Related Files,

68 Fed. Reg. 70,426 (Dec. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First General

Counsel’s Reports on the Public Record, 74 Fed. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2009). The Fuetual

Legal Analysis, which explains the Commission’s determination, is enclosed for your
information.

and

If you have any questions, please contact Joshua B. Smith, the attorney assigned to this

matter, at (202) 654-1650.
Sincerely,
Z—
oy Q. Lackett
Acting Assistant General Counsel
Enclosure

Factual and Legal Analysis
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2009 by Jack Dorsey. See https://squareup.com/about. The company manufactures

cell phone network. See https://squareup.com/-aboxet.

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

-Respondent: Square, Inc. MUR: 6322

L INTRODUCTION

This matter was generated by a complaint filed with the Federal Election

Commission (“Commission”) by Floyd D. Ferrell, alleging possible violations of the

regulations, hy Square, Inc. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1).
IL FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS
A. Background

Tommy Sowers was a Democratic candidate for Congress from Missouri’s 8th

District.' On June 8, 2010, the Sowers campaign committee hosted a fundraiser in
Washington, D.C. Several notable Democratic politicians attended the event, along with

Jack Dorsey, the CEO of Square. Square is a software company founded in February

small, cube-shaped credit card readers that plug into the headphone ports in cell phones.

Id. The devices allow merchants to accept payment for goods or services instaatly over a

The Committes’s announcement publicizing the June 8 fundraiser contains the

date, time, and location of the fundraiser, and lists Jack Dorsey as attending the event and

as the founder of Twitter. See Complaint at Ex. 2, 3; see also

http://www.sowersforcongress.com/page/s/-square. Further, in the bottom right-hand

corner of the announcement, there is a picture of the Square payment processing device

! Mr. Sowers lost the general election.

Page 1 of 6
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Factual and Legal Analysis
Square, Inc.

with Square’s name, along with the statement: “We’re also launching Sﬁuare in DC!| The
_new application by the founder of Twitter that allows credit card transactions from your
mobile phone.” See Complaint at Ex. 2. Additionally, the invitation states that attendees
should “RSVP now & pay at the door w/ SQUARE.” Id. Near the bottom, the invitation

gives attendees the ability to choose a cell phone operating system (Android or iPhone) if
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_the attendee would like a Square card reading device. /d.

.launching it in DC. What better way to unveil the future of grassroots fundraising than

-www.sowersforcongress.com/square2.” See Complaint at 2; Complaint Ex. 3.

16.7).

Thie camplaint also includes a news article that fizatures promotional material,
allegedly distributed by the Committee, which contains a photo of the candidate, the

campaign logo, and the statement “The Tommy Sowers campaign is using Square and

through a fundraiser for a true grassroots candidate. Square is the new application by the

founder of Twitter that allows credit card transactions from your mobile phone. Tuesday,

June 8 5:30 - 7:30 PM @ Local 16 1602 U St. NW. RSVP & for more details:

Additionally, Jack Dorsey wrote about the fundraiser on his Twitter account. See
http://goo.gl/AlkHu (posted June 8, 2010, 4:53 PM) (last visited December 7, 2010)
(“At #sqdc with @crazybeb for @Sowers and @Square. Come by nnd say ki! Local

Square provided its mobile credit services to the Cammittee during the 2010

election cycle. See Response at 2. To use the Square service, the merchant must first

download Square’s free application to a cell phone or iPad. See https://squareup.com/get-
‘started. The merchant then attaches Square’s credit card reader to a cell phone, and the

buyer swipes a credit card through the reader. After swiping the card, the buyer signs the

Page 2 of 6
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" Square distributes the readers for free and does not charge a monthly fee or require a

run the credit card information through Square’s celf phone application, but Square

_Home Stretch, SQUARE, INC. (June 18, 2010), http://goo.gl/eNkZM. /d.

-MasterCard, Visa, or ActBlue, because Square is merely a “conduit” for contributions.

MUR 6322 .
Factual and Legal Analysis
Square, Inc.

transaction receipt on the phone using his or her finger. See https:/squareup.com/about.

merchant account. See https://squareup.com/features. Instead, the merchant pays Square

a percentage of each transaction amount. Jd. Merchants are not required to have the card

reader to use Square’s payment processing service because the merchant can manually

charges more for non-swiped transactions. /d. Altbangh Square distributes the device

free, at the time of the fundraizer Square admittedly confronted a “big hardware shartage

and struggled to meet the demand for its readers. See Letter from Jack Dorsey, The

In response, Square maintains that the Committee paid for all of the fundraiser

for

expenses. See Response at 2. Respondent also asserts that its only involvement was as a

commercial vendor to the Committee, and that Square did not “approve or comment on

attending the event, the response insists that he was involved in the event as a personal
supporter, and he appeared in his persenal capacity. Id.

The respouse also assarts thet the Committee ieferensed Square’s namr with

_any Committee promotional material. /d. Further, even though Jack Dorsey was listed as

.respect to Square’s states as a commercial veador to the Committee and to draw attention

to an innovative technology that the Committee uses for fundraising operations, and not

to encourage contributions. See Response at 2-3. Respondent argues that using its name

in an advertisement is akin to the Committee revealing that it accepts contributions via

Id. Finally, the response argues that even if the use of Square was a violation of the Act,

Page 3 of 6
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Committee’s use of Square; (3) and the provision of Square card readers to the

gave, and the Committee accepted, prohibited contributions when Square furnished the

and candidates are prohibited from accepting ar receiving cerporate cantributions. Sec

§431(8)(A)(i) and 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(a); see also 2 U.S.C. § 441b(b)(2) and 11 C.F.R.

Factual and Legal Analysis
Square, Inc.

it was a de minimis violation because the event raised only $5,574 in contributions. See

Response at 4. Respondent also states the Committee paid Square the full market value

‘for use of its services. Id. at 3. The Committee reported contributions totaling $2,950 on

June 8, 2010, the day of the fundraiser, and $10,000 on June 9, 2010, the day after the
fundraiser. It is possible that the Committee received contributions from sources other
than the June 8 fundraiser on those days.
B. Analysis
The complaint alleges that: (1) the references to Square and the Square payment

processing device in the Committee’s fundraiser announcement; (2) a speech made by

.~

Dorsey at the fundraiser in which Dorsey allegedly endorsed Tommy Sowers and the

Committee to distribute at the fundraiser, constitute impermissible uses of corporate

resources to engage in fundraising activities. The Complaint also alleges that Square

Committee with the card reader devices.

Under the Aet and Commission regulations, corporations are prohibited from

making a voctribution fo a candidate’s committee in connection with a Federal election,

2U.S.C. §441b(a); 11 C.FR. § 114.2(b)(1). A “contribution” includes “any gift,
subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of money or anything of value made by any

person for the purpose of hxﬂuenciné any election for Federal office.” 2 U.S.C.

Page 4 of 6
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"MUR 6322

‘normal charge. See 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1). Because the Act and Commission

'General Counsel’s Report.

announcement also promised contributors their own Square device, even though the

Factual and Legal Analysis
Square, Inc.

§ 114.2(b)(1). “Anything of value” includes all in-kind contributions, including the

provision of goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the usual

regulations prohibit corporations from contributing anything of value to committees, jor

and

using their resources to facilitate contributions to committees, a donation by a corporation

of its tradernark to a committee (for example, to indicate the corporation’s support fo

and 11 C.F.R. 114.2(f). The Commission has previously considered cerpornte names

‘candidate) would constitute an impermissible corporate eontribution. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a)

and

trademarks to be things of value. See MUR 6110 (Obama Victory Fund) Senate Realty

Corporation Factual and Legal Analysis; MUR 5578 (Wetterling for Congress) First

Here, the available information indicates that the fundraiser announcement

featured a picture and description of the Square card reader, and it notified viewers that

the fundraiser was serving as the “launch” of Square in Washington, D.C. The

Square reader was difficult to obtain at the time of the fundraiser. Further, Square’s role

at the event appears to have been more than u mere portal for contributions, like

MasterCard or Visa, given that the devices were distributed to the fundraiser attenrdees to

keep and use apart from contributing to the Committee, the event appears to have been &

“launch” event for Square, and Dorsey’s Twitter post can be read ta suggest he was

appearing both as an individual and as a corporate representative. However, the

thus making it difficult to assess their value. Under these circumstances, further use ¢

Page S of 6

fundraiser apparently raised only $5,574, and Square offers the devices free to the public,

f




11844281725

.MUR 6322

allegations that Square, Inc. violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f) by

Factual and Legal Analysis
Square, Inc,

the Commission’s resources for an investigation is not warranted. Accordingly, the

Commission has determined to exercise its prosecutorial discretion and dismiss the
facilitating the making of contributions, and violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) in connection

with the provision of Square card reader devices to Tommy Sowers for Congress. See

Heckler v. Chaney 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985).
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL MAR 2 1 2011

RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED
Floyd D. Ferrell
Rolla, MO 65401
RE: MUR 6322
Dear Mr. Ferrell:

On March 15, 2011, the Federal Election Commission reviewed the allegations in your
complaint dated July 7, 2010, and on the basis of the information provided in your complaint and
information provided by the respondents, the Commission dismissed this matter in an exercise of
prosecutorial discretion and closed the file. See Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985).

Documents rehited to the case will be placed on the public record withis 36 days. See
Statement of Policy Reganling Disolosece of Closed Enforcement and Related Files, _
68 Fed. Reg. 70,426 (Dec. 18, 2003) and Statement of Policy Regarding Placing First General
Counsel’s Reports on the Peblic Record, 74 Fed. Reg. 66132 (Dec. 14, 2009). The Faetual and
Legal Analyses, which more fully explain the Commission’s findings, are enclosed.

The Federal Election Campalgn Act of 1971, as amended, allows a complainant to seek
judicial review of the Commission’s disinissal of this action. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8).

Sincerely,

Christupher Hoghey
Acting General Counsel

BY:/ Roy Q. Luckett

Acting Assistant General Counsel

Enclosures
Factual and Legal Analyses
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

Respondents: Tommy Sowers for Congress and MUR: 6322

John P. Heissercr, in his official capacity as Treasurer
. Tommy Sowers

L INTRODUCTION

This matter was generated by a complaint filed with the Federal Election

Commission (“Commission”) by Floyd D. Ferrell, allcging possible violatiuns of the

Fedaral Elesticn Campaign Actof 1971, as amender (“the Act”) and the Commiesion’s
regulations, by Tammy Sowers and Tommy Sowers far Congress and John P. Heisserer,

in his official capacity as treasurer. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1).

1L FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

A. Background

Tommy Sowers was a Democratic candidate for Congress from Missouri’s 8th

District.! On June 8, 2010, the Sowers campaign committee hosted a fundraiser in

. Washington, D.C. Several notable Democratic politicians attended the event, along with

Jack Dorsey, the CEO of Square. Square is a software company founded in February
2009 by Jack Dorsey. See https://syrareup.com/about. The company manufactures

small, cube-shaped credit card readers that plug into the headphone ports in cell phones.

.Id. The devices allow merchants to accept payment for gaods or services instantly over a

cell phone network. See https:/squareup.com/-about.2
The Committee’s announcement publicizing the June 8 fundraiser contains the

date, time, and location of the fundraiser, and lists Jack Dorsey as attending the event and

Mr. Sowers lost the gencral election.
For a visual demonstration of the Square device, see http:/goo.gl/TgTp.
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Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

as the founder of Twitter. See Complaint at Ex. 2, 3; see also

http://www.sowersforcongress.com/page/s/-square. Further, in the bottom right-hand

comer of the announcement, there is a picture of the Square payment processing device
with Square’s name, along with the statement: “We’re also launching Square in DC! The

new application by the founder of Twitter that allows credit card transactions from your

mobile phone.” See Cornplaint at Ex. 2. Additionally, the irrvitation states that attendees

should “RSVP now & pay at the door w/ SQUARE.” /d. Near the battam, the invitation
gives attendees the ability to chaose a cell phone operating system (Android or iPhane) if
the attendee would like a Square card reading device. Id.

The complaint also includes a news article that features promotional material,
allegedly distributed by the Committee, which contains a photo of the candidate, the
campaign logo, and the statement “The Tommy Sowers campaign is using Square and

launching it in DC. What better way to unveil the future of grassroots fundraising than

_through a fundraiser for a true grassroots candidate. Square is the new application by the

founder of Twitter that allows credit card transactions from your mobile phone. Tuesday,
June 8 6:30 - 7:30 PM @ Local 16 1602 U St. NW. RSVP & for more details:

www.sqwersforcongress.cany/square2.” See Coniplaini at 2; Complaiat Ex. 3.

.Additionally, Jack Darsey wrote about the fundraiser on his Twitter account. See

http:/goo.gl/AlkHu (posted June 8, 2010, 4:53 pMm) (last visited December 7, 2010)
(“At #sqdc with @crazybob for @Sowers and @Square. Come by and say hi! Local
16.”).

Square provided its mobile credit services to the Committee during the 2010

election cycle. See Response at 2. To use the Square service, the merchant must first
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Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

download Square’s free application to a cell phone or iPad. See hittps://squareup.com/get-

started. The merchant then attaches Square’s credit card reader to a cell phone, and the

'buyer swipes a credit card through the reader. After swiping the card, the buyer signs the

transaction receipt on the phone using his or her finger. See https://squareup.com/about.
Square distributes the readers for free and does not charge a monthly fee or reqliire a

merchant aecount. See https://squareup.conv/features. Instead, the snerchant pays Square

a percentage of each transaction amount. Jd Merchatits are not 1equired to have the card

reader to use Square’s payment processing service because the tnerchent can manuatly

run the credit card information through Square’s cell phone application, but Square

charges more for non-swiped transactions. Id. Although Square distributes the device for

free, at the time of the fundraiser, Square admittedly confronted a “big hardware
shortage” and struggled to meet the demand for its readers. See Letter from Jack Dorsey,
The Home Stretch, SQUARE, INC. (June 18, 2010), http://goo.gl/eNkZM. Id.

The Committee maintains that it paid for all of the fundraiser’s expenses. See
Response at 2. Respondents also assert that Squart;,’s only involvement was as a
commercial vendor to the Committee, and that Square did not “approwe or comment on”

any Committee promational matarial. /d. Furthsr, even though Jack Darsey was listed as

attending the event, the response insists that he was involved in the event as a persanal

supporter, and he appeared in his personal capacity. Id.
The response also asserts that the Committee referenced Square’s name with

respect to Square’s status as a commercial vendor to the Committee and to draw attention

_to an innovative technology that the Committee uses for fundraising operations, and not

to encourage contributions. See Response at 2-3. According to the Committee, using
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Square’s name in an advertisement is akin to the Committee revealing that it accepts

contributions via MasterCard, Visa, or ActBlue, because Square is merely a “conduit” for

contributions. /d. Finally, the response argues that even if the use of Square was a
violation of the Act, it was a de minimis violation because the event raised only $5,574 in

contributions. See Response at 4. Respondents also state the Committee paid Square the

full market value for use of its services. /d. at 3. The Comamittee reported contributions

totaling $2,950 on June 8, 2010, the éay of the fundraiser, and $10,00¢ on June 9, 2010,
the day after the fimdraiser. It is pamible that the Committee received contritrations from
sources other than the June 8 fundraiser on those days.
. B. Anglysis
1. Corporate Activity
The complaint alleges that: (1) the references to Square and the Square payment

processing device in the Committee’s fundraiser announcement; (2) a speech made by

.Dorsey at the fundraiser in which Dorsey allegedly endorsed Tommy Sowers and the

Committee’s use of Square; (3) and the provision of Square card readers to the
Committee to distribute at &xe fundraiser, constitute impermissible uses of corporate

resources to engage in fundraising activities. The Complairit also alleges that Square

-gave, and the Committee accepted, prohibited eontrihutions when Square furnished the

Committee with the card reader devices.
Under the Act and Commission regulations, corporations are prohibited from

making a contribution to a candidate’s committee in connection with a Federal election,

-and candidates are prohibited from accepting or receiving corporate contributions. See
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2 U.S.C. § 441b(a); 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b)(1). A “contribution” includes “any gift,

_subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of money or anything of value made by any

person for the purpose of influencing any election for Federal office.” 2 U.S.C.
§ 431(8)(A)(i) and 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(a); see also 2 U.S.C. § 441b(b)(2) and 11 C.F.R.

§ 114.2(b)(1). “Anything of value” includes all in-kind contributions, including the

.pravision of goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the usual and

normal charge. See 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1). Because the Act and Commission
regulations prohihit corporations from contributing anything of value to commitiees, ar

using their resources to facilitate contributions to comnaittees, a donation by a corporation

-of its trademark to a committee (for example, to indicate the corporation’s support for a

candidate) would constitute an impermissible corporate contribution. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a)
and 11 C.F.R. 114.2(f). The Commission has previously considered corporate names and
trademarks to be things of value. See MUR 6110 (Obama Victory Fund) Senate Realty

"Corporation Factual and Legal Analysis; MUR 5578 (Wetterling for Congress) First

General Counsel’s Report.
Heré, the available information indicates that the fundmiser aanouncement

featured a picture aud deseription of the Square card reader, and it notified viewers that

‘the fundraiser was serving as the “lannch” af Square in Washington, D.C. The

announcement also promised contributors their own Square device, even though the
Square reader was difficult to obtain at the time of the fundraiser. Further, Square’s role

at the event appears to have been more than a mere portal for contributions, like

'MasterCard or Visa, given that the devices were distributed to the fundraiser attendees to

keep and use apart from contributing to the Committee, the event appears to have been a
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11844281698

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

MUR 6322
Factual and Legal Analysis
Sowers for Congress

“launch” event for Square, and Dorsey’s Twitter post can be read to suggest he was

appearing both as an individual and as a corporate representative. However, the

fundraiser apparently raised only $5,574, and Square offers the devices free to the public,

thus making it difficult to assess their value. Under these circumstances, further use of

the Commission’s resources for an investigation is not warranted. Accordingly, the

Commission has determined to exercise its prosecutorial diserction and dismiss the

allegatioms that Tommy Sowers for Congress aid John P. Heisserer, in his afficial
capacity as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f) in conneetion

with the acceptance of corperately-facilitated contributions, and violated 2 U.S.C. §

‘441b(a) in connection with the acceptance of the Square card reader devices. See

Heckler v. Chaney 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985).
2. Personal Use

Finally, the complaint alleges that if the Committee paid for the costs of the

_fundraiser, then it is “certain that at least part of the funds were put to personal use.” See

Complaint at 4. According to the complaint, the fundraiser benefited Square, which
ultimately benefits Jack Dorsey and the other owners and investors of Square, and

therefore is an impermissihle use of Committee cantributions because the casts of this

.“laumch party” would exist irrespective of the candidate’s campaign. Id. In response, the

Committee states that it paid for all expenses related to the fundraiser, and the costs of the
fundraiser do not constitute personal use because neither Tommy Sowers nor any

member of his family own stock in or are in any way financially connected to Square.

-See Response at 2.
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11844291700

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

-MUR 6322

Factual and Legal Analysis
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Campaign contributions accepted by a candidate may not be converted to personal

use by any person. 2 U.S.C. § 439a(b)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 113.2(¢); see also 2 U.S.C.

.§ 439a(a). “Personal use” is defined as “any use of funds in a campaign account of a

present or former candidate to fulfill a commitment, obligation or expense of any person
that would exist irrespective of the candidate’s campaign or duties as a Federal

officeholder.” See 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g); see also 2 U.8.C. § 539a(b)(2); 2 U.S.C.

-§ 431(11) (defining “person” under the Act); Explmation and Justification, Expenditures;

Reports by Political Committees; Personal Use of Campaign Funds, 60 Fed. Reg. 7862
(February 9, 1995) (“If campaign funds are used for a financial obligation that is caused

by campaign activity or the activities of an officeholder, that use is not personal use.”)

'Commission regulations list a number of purposes that would constitute personal use per

se. 11 C.F.R. § 113.1()(1)(i). Where a specific use is not listed as personal use, the
Commission makes a determination, on a case-by-case basis, whether an expense would

fall within the definition for personal use. 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(1)(ii). The Commission

“has long recognized that if a candidate “can reasonably show that the expenses at issue

resulted [rom campaign or officeholder activities, the Commission will not consider the
use to be personel use.” See 60 Fed. Reg. at 7867. I gnevivus matters, funds were

considered converted by individuals to personal use when they were used to pay for

-pexsnnal expenses, such as Broadway show and football tickets, haircuts, credit card bills,

and personal trainer payments. See, e.g., MUR 5962 (Istook for Congress) Conciliation
Agreement; MUR 5895 (Meeks for Congress) Conciliation Agreement.

Here, there is no information indicating that campaign funds were put to personal

.use. The complaint argues that because the fundraiser was also styled as a launch for
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Square, the Committee used campaign contributions to pay for launch expenses that

would have existed irrespective of the campaign. However, the Commission gives

The Committee hosted a fundraiser for Tommy Sowers’ campaign, and has reasonably
shown that the expenses for this fundraiser would not have existed irrespective of the
campaign. Therefore, because no campaign contributions appear to have been oonverted
to personat ase, the Commission has datermined ta find no reasan to believe that Tommy
Sowers for Congress and John P, Heisserer, in his official capacity as treasurer, vialated
2U.S.C. § 439a(b). The Commission has also determined to find no reason to believe

that Tommy Sowers violated the Act.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

Respondent: Square, Inc. MUR: 6322

L. INTRODUCTION

This matter was generated by a complaint filed with the Federal Election
Commission (“Commission”) by Floyd D. Ferrell, alleging possible violations of the
Fedoral Eleetion Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (“the Act”) and the Commisqion’s

regutaiions, by Square, Inc. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1).

A. Backgroupd

Tommy Sowers was a Democratic candidate for Congress from Missouri’s 8th

District.! On June 8, 2010, the Sowers campaign committee hosted a fundraiser in

Washington, D.C. Several notable Democratic politicians attended the event, along with
Jack Dorsey, the CEO of Square. Square is a software company founded in February

2009 by Jack Dorsey. See https://squareup.com/about. The company manufactures

'small, cube-shaped credit card readers that plug into the headphone ports in cell prones.

Id. The devices allow merchants to accept payment for goods or services instantly over a
cell phone netwark. See https://squareup.com/-about.

The Committee’s announcement publicizing the June 8 fundraiser contains the

_date, time, and location of the fundraiser, and lists Jack Dorsey as attending the event and

as the founder of Twitter. See Complaint at Ex. 2, 3; see also
http://www.sowersforcongress.com/page/s/-square. Further, in the bottom right-hand

corner of the announcement, there is a picture of the Square payment processing device

Mr. Sowers lost the general election.
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" Square, Inc.

with Square’s name, along with the statement: “We’re also launching Square in DC! The
new application by the founder of Twitter that allows credit card transactions from your

mobile phone.” See Complaint at Ex. 2. Additionally, the invitation states that attendees

"should “RSVP now & pay at the door w/ SQUARE.” Id. Near the bottom, the invitation

gives attendees the ability to choose a cell phone operating system (Android or iPhone) if
the attendee would like a Squarc card reading device. /d.

The complaint also includes a news article that features promotional material,

allegedly distributed by the Committee, which contains a photo of the candidate, the

campaign logo, and the statement “The Tommy Sowers campaign is using Square and
launching it in DC. What better way to unveil the future of grassroots fundraising than

through a fundraiser for a true grassroots candidate. Square is the new application by the

founder of Twitter that allows credit card transactions from your mobile phone. Tuesday,

June 8 5:30 - 7:30 PM @ Local 16 1602 U St. NW. RSVP & for more details:
www.sowersforcongress.com/square2.” See Complaint at 2; Complaint Ex. 3.

Additionally, Jack Dorsey wrote about the fundraiser on his Twitter account. See

http://goo.gl/AlkHu (posted June 8, 2010, 4:53 PM) (last visited December 7, 2010)

(“At #sqdc with @orazybeb for @Sowers and @Square. Come by and say Li! Local
16.”).

Square provided its mobile credit services to the Cammittee during the 2010
election cycle. See Response at 2. To use the Square service, the merchant must first
download Square’s free application to a cell phone or iPad. See https://squareup.com/get-

started. The merchant then attaches Square’s credit card reader to a cell phone, and the

buyer swipes a credit card through the reader. After swiping the card, the buyer signs the

Page 2 of 6
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transaction receipt on the phone using his or her finger. See https://squareup.com/about.
Square distributes the readers for free and does not charge a monthly fee or require a

merchant account. See https://squareup.com/features. Instead, the merchant pays Square

.a percentage of each transaction amount. /d. Merchants are not required to have the card

reader to use Square’s payment processing service because the merchant can manually
run the credit card inforination through Square’s cell phoae application, but Square

charges more for non-swiped transactions, /d. Althangh Square distribotes the device for

-free, at thie time of the fundraizer Square admittedly confronted a “big hardware shortage”

and struggled to meet the demand for its readers. See Letter from Jack Dorsey, The
Home Stretch, SQUARE, INC. (June 18, 2010), http://goo.gl/eNkZM. Id.

In response, Square maintains that the Committee paid for all of the fundraiser’s

‘expenses. See Response at 2. Respondent also asserts that its only involvement was as a

commercial vendor to the Committee, and that Square did not “approve or comment on”
any Committee promotional material. /d. Further, even though Jack Dorsey was listed as

attending the event, the response insists that he was involved in the event as a personal

‘supporter, and he appeared in his personal capacity. Jd.

The response also asserts that the Camminee referenced Square’s namm: with
respect to Square’s status as a commercial vendor to the Committee and to draw attention

to an innovative technology that the Committee uses for fundraising operations, and not

o encourage contributions. See Response at 2-3. Respondent argues that using its name

‘in an advertisement is akin to the Committee revealing that it accepts contributions via

MasterCard, Visa, or ActBlue, because Square is merely a “conduit” for contributions.

Id. Finally, the response argues that even if the use of Square was a violation of the Act,
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it was a de minimis violation because the event raised only $5,574 in contributions. See
Response at 4. Respondent also states the Committee paid Square the full market value

for use of its services. Id. at 3. The Committee reported contributions totaling $2,950 on

-June 8, 2010, the day of the fundraiser, and $10,000 on June 9, 2010, the day after the

fundraiser. It is possible that the Committee received contributions from sources other
than the June 8 fundraiser on those days.
B. Analysis
The complaint alleges that: (1) the references to Square and the Square payment
processing device in the Committee’s fundraiser announcement; (2) a spt;,ech made by
Dorsey at the fundraiser in which Dorsey allegedly endorsed Tommy Sowers and the

Committee’s use of Square; (3) and the provision of Square card readers to the

'Committee to distribute at the fundraiser, constitute impermissible uses of corporate

resources to engage in fundraising activities. The Complaint also alleges that Square
gave, and the Committee accepted, prohibited contributions when Square furnished the
Committee with the card reader devices.

Under the Act and Commission regulations, coaporations are prohibited fram
making a contribution te a candidata’s corarnittee in connection with a Federal election,
and candidates are prohibited from accepting ar receiving corporate cantributions. See

2U.S.C. § 441b(a); 11 CFR. § 114.2(b)(1). A “contribution” includes “any gift,

subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of money or anything of value made by any

person for the purpose of influencing any election for Federal office.” 2 U.S.C.
§ 431(8)(A)(i) and 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(a); see also 2 U.S.C. § 441b(b)(2) and 11 C.F.R.
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§ 114.2(b)(1). “Anything of value” includes all in-kind contributions, including the
provision of goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the usual and

normal charge. See 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1). Because the Act and Commission

.regulations prohibit corporations from contributing anything of value to committees, or

using their resources to facilitate contributions to committees, a donation by a corporation

of its trademark to a committee (for erample, to inditate the corporation’s support for a

candidata) would constitute an impermissible carporaie eontribitiun. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a)

-and 11 C.F.R. 114.2(f). The Commission has previcusly considered corpotate names and

trademarks to be things of value. See MUR 6110 (Obama Victory Fund) Senate Realty
Corporation Factual and Legal Analysis; MUR 5578 (Wetterling for Congress) First
General Counsel’s Report.

Here, the available information indicates that the fundraiser announcement
featured a picture and description of the Square card reader, and it notified viewers that
the fundraiser was serving as the “launch” of Square in Washington, D.C. The

announcement also promised contributors their own Square device, even though the

"Square reader was diffieult to obtain at the timre of the fandraiser. Further, Square’s role

at the eveat appemrs to have been more timn a2 mere partal for coritributions, like
MastarCard ar Visa, given that the devices were distributed to the fundvaiser attendees to

keep and use apart from contributiag to the Committee, the event appears to have been a

‘“launch” event for Square, and Dorsey’s Twitter post can be read to suggest he was

appearing both as an individual and as a corporate representative. However, the

fundraiser apparently raised only $5,574, and Square offers the devices free to the public,

thus making it difficult to assess their value. Under these circumstances, further use of
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the Commission’s resources for an investigation is not warranted. Accordingly, the
Commission has determined to exercise its prosecutorial discretion and dismiss the

allegations that Square, Inc. violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f) by

facilitating the making of contributions, and violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) in connection

with the provision of Square card reader devices to Tommy Sowers for Congress. See

Heckler v. Chaney 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985).
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